I N THE UNI TED STATES DI STRI CT COURT
FOR THE DI STRI CT OF KANSAS
UNI TED STATES OF AMERI CA,
Plaintiff,
VS. Case No. 01-40020-01
05-3110- RDR
LAVELLE HENDERSON,

Def endant .

VEMORANDUM AND ORDER

This case is now before the court upon defendant’s notion
to vacate sentence pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 8§ 2255. As background
to this order the court shall review the indictnment and verdi ct
in this case, as we did in the order issued to deny defendant’s
notion for a new trial. Doc. No. 169.

REVI EW OF THE | NDI CTMENT AND THE VERDI CT

The amended indictment in Count 1 alleged a continuing
crimnal enterprise fromon or about January 1, 1994 until early
2001 in violation of 21 U S.C. § 848. Twel ve predicate acts
were alleged as part of Count 1. Count 2 alleged a conspiracy
fromJanuary 1, 1994 to March 14, 2001 to possess with intent to
di stribute in excess of 50 grans of cocai ne base in violation of
21 U.S.C. 8§ 846. Count 3 alleged a conspiracy from January 1,
1994 to March 14, 2001 to possess with intent to distribute in
excess of 5 kilogranms of cocaine hydrochloride in violation of

21 U . S.C. 8 846. Count 4 alleged a conspiracy to | aunder noney



in violation of 18 U. S.C. 8§ 1956(h) and 1957(a).

The predicate acts alleged as part of Count 1 were as

foll ows:

1.

From at | east on or about the 1st day of January,
1994 and continuing until at |east the 28'" day of
April 1997, exact dates being unknown to the
grand jury, in the D strict of Kansas and
el sewhere, the defendant, Lavelle Henderson, did
knowi ngly, wllfully and wunlawfully conbine,
conspire, confed-erate and agree with Lapreasha
Wnne and ot her persons, the identities of which
are unknown to the grand jury, to possess wth
the intent to distribute and distribute in excess
of 5 kilograms of a substance or m xture of
substances containing a detectable anount of
cocai ne hydrochloride, a Schedule Il Controlled
Substance, in violation of Title 21, United
States Code, 88 846 and 841;

On or about May 9, 1995 in the District of
Kansas, the defendant, Lavelle Henderson, did
di stribute approximately 24.71 granms of cocaine
base, comonly known as “crack” cocaine, a
Schedul e I'l Controlled Substance, in violation of
Title 21, United States Code, § 841(a)(1);

On or about the 1t day of January, 1996 and
continuing until on or about the 8'" day of My
1996, the exact dates being unknown to the grand
jury, in the District of Kansas and el sewhere,
t he defendant, Lavelle Henderson, did know ngly,
willfully and wunlawfully conbine, conspire,
confederate and agree wth Anthony Henderson,
Hattie MNeal, Kevin Elnore and wth other
persons, the identities of which are unknown to
the grand jury, to possess with the intent to
distribute and distribute in excess of 50 grans
of a substance or m xture  of subst ances
containing a detectable anount of cocai ne base,
commonly known as “crack” cocaine, a Schedule II
Controll ed Substance, in violation of Title 21,
United States Code, 8§ 846;



On or about July 12, 1997 in the State of
California, the defendant, Lavell e Henderson, did
possess with the intent to distribute nmeth-
anphetam ne, a Schedule Il Controll ed Substance,
in violation of Title 21, United States Code, 8§
841(a)(1l) and California Health and Safety Code,
8§ 11378;

On or about July 12, 1997 in the State of
California, the defendant, Lavell e Henderson, did
possess with the intent to distribute cocaine
hydrochl ori de, a Schedul e I Control |l ed
Substance, in violation of Title 21, United
States Code, § 841(a)(1);

On or about the 12t" day of July, 1997, the exact
dates being unknown to the grand jury, in the
District of Kansas and el sewhere, the defendant,
Lavel | e Henderson, did knowingly, willfully and
unl awful ly combine, conspire, confederate and
agree with Lashonda Daniels, Shannon Brown and
Gerald Jackson and wth other persons, the
identities of which are unknown to the grand
jury, to possess with the intent to distribute in
excess of 500 granms of cocai ne hydrochl oride, a
Schedul e Il Controll ed Substance, in violation of
Title 21, United States Code, § 846;

On or about the 12t" day of July, 1997 in the
District of Kansas and el sewhere, the defendant,
Lavel |l e Henderson, did knowingly, willfully and
unlawful ly conbine, conspire, confederate and
agree with Lashonda Daniels, Shannon Brown and
Gerald Jackson and wth other persons, the
identities of which are unknown to the grand
jury, to possess with the intent to distribute
approxi mately 72.19 grans of nmethanphetam ne, a
Schedul e Il Controlled Substance, in violation of
Title 21, United States Code, § 846;

On or about the 5'" day of March, 1999 in the
State of California, the defendant, Lavelle
Henderson, did possess wth the intent to
distribute in excess of 500 granms of cocaine
hydrochl ori de, a Schedul e I Controll ed
Substance, in violation of Title 21, United
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States Code, 8§ 841(a)(1);

9. Fromon or about the 379 day of March, 1999 to on
or about the 5'" day March, 1999, the exact dates
bei ng unknown to the grand jury, the defendant,
Lavel |l e Henderson, did knowingly, wllfully and
unlawfully conbine, conspire, confederate and
agree with Jaime Harris and with other persons,
the identities of which are unknown to the grand
jury, to possess with the intent to distribute in
excess of 500 grams of a substance or m xture of
cocai ne hydrochl oride, a Schedule Il Controlled
Substance, in violation of Title 21, United
St ates Code, § 846;

10. Fromat |east as early as on or about the 28!" day
of June, 1999 and continuing until the date of
the return of this indictnment, the exact dates
bei ng unknown to the grand jury, in the District
of Kansas and el sewhere, the defendant, Lavelle
Hender son, did knowi ngly, willfully and
unl awful |y conbine, conspire, confederate and
agree with Doreen Nichole Wods and with other
persons, the identities of which are unknown to
the grand jury, to possess with the intent to
distribute in excess of 500 grans of a substance
or m xture of substances containing a detectable
amount of cocaine hydrochloride, a Schedule II
Control |l ed Substance, in violation of Title 21,
United States Code, § 846;

11. The violations listed in Counts 2 and 3 of this
i ndi ctnent, incorporated by reference herein as
if fully set forth.
The jury found defendant guilty of all four counts of the
i ndi ct ment . The jury specifically found that defendant
commtted nine of the 12 alleged predicate acts in Count 1; the
jury did not find that defendant commtted predicate acts
nunbered 2, 5 and 6. To find defendant guilty of Count 1, the

crime of operating a continuing crimnal enterprise, the
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gover nnment needed to prove, anong ot her el ements, that defendant
commtted at |least three of the predicate acts and that the
three violations were related to each other and amounted to a
continuing series of violations, sone of which occurred in the
District of Kansas. Following the verdict the court vacated
def endant’ s convictions upon Counts 2 and 3 because they were
consi dered | esser included offenses of the continuing crimnal
enterprise charge alleged in Count 1.

All of defendant’s argunents in his § 2255 notion pertain
to Count 1.

As already noted, the indictnment described above is as
anmended by the court upon the notion of the governnment during
the trial of the case. Near the cl ose of the governnent’s case-
in-chief, the court permtted the indictment to be anended to
change the beginning dates of alleged crimnal activity. In
Count 1, the starting date of the alleged continuing crimna
enterprise was changed from April 1, 1992 to January 1, 1994.
The beginning date of the first predicate act in Count 1 was
changed from April 14, 1992 to January 1, 1994. The begi nning
dates of the conspiracies alleged in Counts 2 and 3 were also
changed from April 14, 1992 to January 1, 1994.

DEFENDANT" S DI RECT APPEAL

On direct appeal, defendant was represented by different



counsel than the attorney who handled his trial. Def endant

argued on appeal: 1) sufficiency of the evidence as to
conviction for engaging in a continuing crimnal enterprise;

2) challenges to his sentence pursuant to Apprendi V.

his

and

New

Jersey, 530 U.S. 466 (2000) and the Sentencing Guidelines.
convi ctions and sentence were affirnmed. 2003 WL 22347008.

STANDARDS FOR | NEFFECTI VE ASSI STANCE OF COUNSEL

Hi s

Def endant asserts i neffecti ve assi stance of counsel at tri al

and on appeal as grounds for relief. The Tenth Circuit
st at ed:

A successful claim of ineffective assistance of
counsel nust nmeet the two-prong test set forth in
Strickland v. WAshington, 466 U S. 668, 104 S. Ct.
2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984). First, a defendant nust
show that his counsel’s performance was deficient in

that it “fell bel ow an objective standard of
reasonabl eness.” 1d. at 688, 104 S.Ct. 2052. Second,
a defendant nust show that counsel’s deficient
performance actually prejudiced his defense. 1d. at

687, 104 S.Ct. 2052.

has

US v. Harms, 371 F.3d 1208, 1211 (10'" Cir. 2004). The court

went on to el abor at e:

The Sixth Amendnent does not require counsel for a
crimnal defendant to be clairvoyant. . . . [T]he
Constitution only requires that counsel’s assistance
‘“fall[] within the wde range of reasonabl e
pr of essi onal assi stance.’ Strickland, 466 U.S. at
689, 104 S.Ct. 2052. Precedent from both the Suprene
Court and our sister circuits clearly holds that
counsel’s failure to raise or recognize a potenti al
| egal argunent does not automatically render counsel’s
performance constitu-tionally deficient. ‘[ T] he
constitution guarantees crimnal defendants only a
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fair trial and a conpetent attorney. It does not

insure that defense counsel will recognize and raise
every conceivable constitutional claim’” Mirray V.
Carrier, 477 U.S. 478, 486, 106 S.Ct. 2639, 91 L. Ed. 2d
397 (1986). . . . This court has al so recogni zed t hat
counsel’s failure to recognize a potential |[egal

argunent does not constitute cause for procedural
default. Hopkinson v. Shillinger, 954 F.2d 609, 610
(10th Cir. 1992).”

Id. at 1212.

VWhen exam ning the conduct of appellate counsel, the
rel evant guestions are “whether appel |l ate counsel was
‘objectively unreasonable’ in failing to raise [the]
claims on direct appeal and, iif so, whether there is a
‘reasonabl e probability that, but for his counsel’s unreasonabl e
failure to raise these clainms, [the novant] ‘would have

prevail ed on his appeal.’” Neill v. G bson, 278 F.3d 1044, 1057

(10th Cir. 2001) cert. denied, 537 U. S. 835 (2002) (quoting Sm th

v. Robbins, 528 U.S. 259, 285-86 (2000)).

DEFENDANT’ S ARGUMENTS FOR RELI EF

| neffective assistance of trial counsel

Defendant’s first argunment for relief makes the sonewhat
strange contention that his trial counsel was “ineffective”
because he was blindsided by the governnent’s request in the
m ddl e of trial to change the tine periods alleged in parts of
the indictnment and the court’s decision to grant the requested

anendnment. We reject this argunent for the foll owi ng reasons.



First, defendant does not claim that trial counsel’s
performance was objectively unreasonable. The gist of the
argument is that trial counsel was unfairly surprised by the
governnment’s action and the court’s inproper decision, not that
trial counsel was deficient in conparison to other conpetent
def ense counsel. Second, defendant does not persuasively claim
t hat he suffered prejudice fromthe anendnent of the indictnent.
The great majority of the evidence agai nst defendant concerned
events after January 1, 1994. This was an open file case and it
shoul d have been clear prior to trial fromthe evidence and the
i ndictnent that npst of the governnment’s proof would concern
events after January 1, 1994. Even w thout anendnment of the
i ndi ctment, the evidence was sufficient to convict defendant of
all of the counts of conviction because the law and the
instructions did not require the governnment to prove wth
preci sion when the alleged crimnal conduct started. See U.S.

v. Cina, 699 F.2d 853, 859 (7" Cir.) cert. denied, 464 U. S. 991

(1983) (tenporal scope of conspiracy is not an essential
el enent) . Mor eover, the only predicate acts in Count 1 which
were anended were the first, eleventh and twelfth predicate
acts. The jury found that defendant commtted these predicate
acts, but the jury also found that defendant comm tted predicate

acts nunmbered 3, 4, 7, 8, 9 and 10. These alleged acts were not



anended during the trial and provided nmore than sufficient
grounds to find defendant guilty of Count 1. Finally, defendant
cannot persuasively claim prejudice fromthe evidence of acts
commtted prior to January 1, 1994. The evidence relating to
activity occurring before January 1, 1994 was relevant to
establishing the relationship of the alleged co-conspirators as
wel | as establishing the intent, plan and knowl edge of defendant
and his alleged co-conspirators. Its relevance was not
out wei ghed by any prejudice to defendant. Therefore, it was
evi dence that was rel evant and adm ssi bl e regardi ng the charges
as anended in this case. In sum there is no reason to believe
that a reasonable jury would have reached a different result if
the indictnment had not been anmended or if it had been anended
prior to trial.

Third, to the extent that in this argunment defendant is
chal l enging this court’s decision to permt the amendnent of the
indictnent, the court rejects that argunment for the reasons and
authority cited when the court granted the anmendment and when
the court denied defendant’s motion for a newtrial. See also,

U.S. v. Soskin, 100 F.3d 1377, 1381 (7" Cir. 1996).

Brady viol ation

Def endant’s second argument for relief is that the

governnment wi t hhel d excul patory evidence. The evidence to which



def endant refers is that one alleged co-conspirator and
government w tness, LaPreasha Wnne, was incarcerated from
Cct ober 1993 to March 1994, which was during the tinme period
when the government alleged that she was involved in a drug
conspiracy with defendant and made trips to California to obtain
and return with drugs. Defendant asserts that this was a Brady
vi ol ati on. The Third Circuit has reviewed the standards for

proving a Brady violation in Hollman v. WIlson, 158 F.3d 177,

180 (3¢ Cir. 1998) cert. denied, 525 U.S. 1143 (1999):

I n Brady, the Suprene Court held that “the suppression
by the prosecution of evidence favorable to an accused
upon request violates due process where the evidence
is material either to guilt or punishnment.” 373 U.S.
at 87, 83 S.Ct. 1194. A newtrial will be granted for
a Brady violation only if the defendant can
denonstrate both that the prosecution wthheld
excul patory evidence, and that the evidence was
material, in that the defendant did not receive a fair
trial because of its absence. . . . It is well
establi shed that inpeachnment evidence can constitute
excul patory evidence under Brady and its progeny

and evidence of a government wtness's prior
crimnal history is evidence which nust be produced to
t he def ense.

“Undi scl osed evidence is material when ‘there is a reasonable
probability that, had the evidence been disclosed to the
defense, the result of the proceeding would have been

different.’”” Fitzgerald v. Greene, 150 F.3d 357, 367 n.6 (4t"

Cir.) cert. denied, 525 US. 956 (1998) (quoting Kyles v.

Whitley, 514 U S. 419, 433-34, 115 S. Ct. 1555, 131 L.Ed.2d 490
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(1995); see also, Cargle v. Millin, 317 F.3d 1196, 1207 (10t"

Cir. 2003).
The court shall assume for the purposes of this order that

t he assertions regarding Wnne’'s incarceration are accurate and
that this information was w thheld from defendant. Even so,

there was no Brady violation because this evidence was not

material; there i s no reasonabl e probability that its production
woul d have caused a different result in defendant’s trial. This
was a lengthy trial. The governnment presented several

wi t nesses, including Doreen Whods, Jaine Harris, M chael Reece,

Heat her Reece, Scott Clift and Laresha Bennett, who testified
that they were part of a drug conspiracy with defendant. Tapes
of defendant’s conversations further denonstrated defendant’s
gui l t. LaPreasha Wnne was the nost equivocal governnent

Wi t ness. Her testinmony was filled with uncertainty regarding
when she may have taken trips for defendant as part of a drug
conspiracy. It is not clear from her testinmony or from other

testinmony that trips occurred between October 1993 and WMarch
1994, when defendant now asserts Wnne was incarcerated. A
reasonable jury which disregarded Wnne's testinony entirely
would still reach the sanme result in this case based on the
overwhel m ng evidence from other w tnesses. No other result

woul d be reasonable. Furthernore, the result in this case woul d
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be the sane if the jury did not find that defendant commtted
the one predicate act in which LaPreasha Wnne is nmenti oned.

Perjured testinony

Def endant’s next argunent is that his conviction and
sentence should be vacated because the governnment presented
perjured testinony. This argunent was first presented in
defendant’s motion for a new trial. Doc. No. 167. The court
addressed the argunent at that tinme in our order denying the
notion for newtrial. Doc. No. 169. For the reasons stated in
that order, we deny defendant’s request for relief on these

grounds. See also, U.S. v. Adcox, 19 F.3d 290, 295 (7th Cir.

1994) (nmere inconsistencies in the testinmny of governnment
wi t nesses does not denonstrate the know ng use of perjury); U._S.

v. Lochnmondy, 890 F.2d 817, 822 (6'" Cir. 1989) (sane).

Def endant al so suggests that the prosecutor inproperly
vouched for the truthful ness of the government w tnesses. The
court has examned the portion of the transcript cited by
def endant for this proposition, and we di sagree with defendant.
“Argument or evidence is i nperm ssible vouching only if the jury
could reasonably believe that the prosecutor is indicating a
personal belief in the witness <credibility, either through
explicit personal assurances of the w tness veracity or by

inplicitly indicating that information not presented to the jury
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supports the witness’ testinony.” U.S. v. Bowie, 892 F.2d 1494,

1498 (10'h Cir. 1990). A prosecutor nmay refer to provisions of

pl ea agreenments which include truthful ness clauses. U.S. V.
Lord, 907 F.2d 1028, 1031 (10t Cir. 1990). “Use of the
“truthful ness’ portions of . . . [plea] agreenents becones

i mper m ssi bl e vouching only when the prosecutors explicitly or
inplicitly indicate that they can nonitor and accurately verify
the truthful ness of the witness’ testinony.” Bow e, 892 F. 2d at
1498. The court may consi der defense attacks upon a wtness’
credibility in considering the comments of a prosecutor. See

Moore v. G bson, 195 F.3d 1152, 1173 (10" Cir. 1999) cert.

deni ed, 530 U. S. 1208 (2000); U.S. v. Villa-Chaparro, 115 F. 3d

797, 803 (10" Cir.) cert. denied, 522 U S. 926 (1997). The

court may also consider the court’s instructions that the
statements of counsel are not evidence and that the jury is the
sol e judge of the facts and witness credibility. See U.S. V.
Santi ago, 977 F.2d 517, 520 (10" Cir. 1992).

Of course, defendant did not argue inappropriate vouching
by the prosecutor on direct appeal, and no objection at trial
was made to the comments of the prosecutor which defendant has
cited in his motion. So, this contention should be raised as
part of a claimof ineffective assistance of counsel.

The court has considered the context of the prosecutor’s
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statenments which were nade in response to a |l engthy attack upon
the government’s w tnesses in defendant’s closing statenent.
The court has also considered the instructions given to the
jury, the great anmount of evidence agai nst defendant, and the
comments thensel ves. We conclude that it was not deficient
performance by defendant’s trial counsel or appellate counsel to
fail to object or to appeal on the basis of the alleged
vouching. Nor do we believe the prosecutor’s comments caused
material prejudice to defendant or led to an unfair trial.
Therefore, we reject this argunent as a basis to vacate
def endant’ s convictions and sentence.

| neffective assistance of counsel on direct appeal

Def endant contends next that he received ineffective
assi stance of counsel on direct appeal. Defendant asserts that
his attorney on direct appeal was constitutionally ineffective
because he failed to raise the previously described perjury
argument on direct appeal. For the reasons stated in our order
denying the new trial nmotion, we believe that defendant cannot
denonstrate that there is a reasonable probability that
def endant would have prevailed on appeal if his counsel on
appeal raised the perjury issue. W further reject any claim
that counsel on direct appeal was ineffective for failing to

rai se any other argunents made in defendant’s § 2255 notion or
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the affidavit filed in support of the npotion. Therefore, we
deny this argunment for relief.
CONCLUSI ON

For the above-stated reasons, the court believes the record
conclusively denonstrates that defendant is not entitled to
relief. Defendant’s notion shall be denied.

I T 1S SO ORDERED

Dated this 17'" day of June, 2005 at Topeka, Kansas.

s/ Richard D. Rogers
United States District Judge
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